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INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff Noel McArdle-Bracelin, individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated, brings this class action against Embassy Suites Employer LLC, Embassy Suites
Management LLC, Congress Hotel, LLC, and VVeeder Hospitality Management, LLC (collectively
“Defendants™) on behalf of individuals who have worked for Defendants as non-exempt servers,
waiters, bartenders, waitstaff, room service attendants, and other non-managerial service workers,
and are subject to Defendants’ service fee policies and practices. This case implicates Defendants’
longstanding policies and practices, which fail to properly compensate non-exempt service
workers mandatory surcharges remitted to them as wages. As a result, throughout the relevant time
period, Plaintiff and similarly situated workers are denied all gratuity payments owed to them.

2. Defendants impose a mandatory service fee on the total cost of banquet services,
including the sale of food and beverages during those banquets, to their customers, but fail to
distribute the total proceeds of those surcharges to non-managerial service employees as required
by New York law. This conduct violates New York Labor Law § 196-d.

3. Plaintiff and Class members bring the following causes of action to challenge
Defendants’ policies and practices of: (1) failing to remit all service fee surcharges to Plaintiff and
Class members; (2) unjust enrichment for failure to remit the entirety of the service fee surcharges
to non-managerial service workers; (3) failing to provide Plaintiff and Class members accurate,
itemized wage statements as required by N.Y. Lab. Law § 195(3); and (4) failing to provide
accurate and proper written notice as required by N.Y. Lab. Law 8§ 195(1).

4. Plaintiff files this action to recover all unpaid wages, compensation, penalties,
liquidated damages, treble damages, and other damages on behalf of herself and Class members

under New York state law as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23. Plaintiff
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seeks to remedy the sweeping practices Defendants integrated into their gratuity systems and
payroll policies that have deprived Plaintiff and Class members of their lawfully earned wages.

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law causes of action
pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) (“CAFA”). Under CAFA, this
court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s Rule 23 class action claims because the matter in
controversy is believed to exceed $5,000,000, and because Plaintiff and at least one of the
Defendants are citizens of difference states. Moreover, the number of proposed class members
in New York is believed to exceed 100.

6. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. Defendants
operate numerous properties in this district, are registered to do business in this district, employ
numerous workers in this district, including Plaintiff, and a substantial part of the events giving
rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred within this judicial district.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Noel McArdle-Bracelin is an individual over the age of eighteen, and at
all times relevant to this Complaint was a resident of the State of New York, County of Saratoga.
Plaintiff was employed as a breakfast server and banquet server by Defendants at the Embassy
Suites in Saratoga Springs, New York from August 2016 to July 2018.

8. The Class members are all people who are or who have been employed by
Defendants as non-exempt employees throughout the State of New York within the six years
preceding the filing of this Complaint.

9. The Service Fee Sub-Class members are all people who are or who have been

employed by Defendants as hourly non-exempt employees, including but not limited to, food and
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beverage servers, waitstaff, room service attendants, and other similar hourly and non-exempt
service workers throughout the State of New York within the six years preceding the filing of
this Complaint.

10.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that Embassy Suites Employer
LLC is a Delaware limited liability company registered to do business in New York. Defendant
may be served with process by serving Corporation Services Company, 80 State Street, Albany,
New York, 12207-2543.

11.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that Embassy Suites
Management LLC is a Delaware limited liability company that is registered to do business in
New York. Defendant may be served with process by serving Corporation Service Company, 80
State Street, Albany, New York 12207-2543.

12.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that Congress Hotel, LLC is a
New York limited liability company that is registered to do business in New York. Defendant
may be served with process by serving Donald C. Greene, 240 Clifton Corporate Parkway,
Clifton Park, New York, 12065.

13.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges, that Veeder Hospitality
Management, LLC is a New York limited liability company registered to do business in New
York. Defendant may be served with process by serving its registered agent Linda A. Mandel
Clemente, Mandel Clemente & Associates, P.C., 120 Defreest Drive, Rensselaer Technology
park, North Greenbush, New York 12180.

14, Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that at all times mentioned in
this Complaint, Defendants are the agents and employees of their co-defendants and in doing the

things alleged in this Complaint were acting within the course and scope of such agency and
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employment.

15.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that Defendants, individually
and/or jointly, own, operate, and manage hotels, restaurants, and resorts throughout the United
States, including in New York. Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that
Defendants employ Class members throughout New York state.

16.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that each and every one of the acts and omissions
alleged herein were performed by, and/or attributable to, Defendants, each acting as agents and/or
employees, and/or under the direction and control of each of the other, and that said acts and
failures to act were within the course and scope of said agency, employment and/or direction and
control.

17.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that Defendants jointly exercised
control over Plaintiff and Class members with respect to their employment.

18.  As joint employers of Plaintiff and Class members throughout the relevant time
periods, Defendants, and each of them, are solely, jointly, and severally liable for damages and
penalties for violating New York Labor Law, and other state laws, rules and regulations with
respect to the employment of Plaintiff and Class members.

19. Throughout this Complaint, any reference to “Defendant” or “Defendants” is
intended to refer to Defendants Embassy Suites Employer LLC, Embassy Suites Management
LLC, Congress Hotel, LLC., and Veeder Hospitality Management, LLC jointly.

20.  Atall material times, Defendants have done business under the laws of New York,
have continuously maintained physical places of business in New York, including in this district,
and have employed Class members in this district and elsewhere throughout New York.

Defendants are “employers” within the meaning of N.Y. Lab. Law § 651(6).
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21. Defendants each individually and/or jointly own, operate, and/or manage hotels,
restaurants, and resorts throughout New York and the United States.

22. Defendants acted and continue to act as joint employers of Plaintiff because, upon
information and belief, they jointly, directly, or indirectly, control the employment terms, pay
practices, timekeeping practices, and daily work of Plaintiff and Class members.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

23. Defendants own, operate, and manage hotels, restaurants, and resorts throughout
the State of New York, including but not limited to the Embassy Suites in Saratoga Springs, New
York. Defendants employ hundreds of hourly non-exempt workers similarly situated to Plaintiff
across these facilities.

24.  Plaintiff worked at the Embassy Suites in Saratoga Springs, New York as a
breakfast server and banquet server from approximately August 2016 to July 2018. On average,
Plaintiff worked 6 hours per shift as a breakfast server and 8.5 hours per shift as a banquet server.
She worked 5 to 7 days per week, with an average of 30 to 34 hours each week. Plaintiff was
paid at an hourly rate of $7.50 plus tips.

25. During the course of their employment with Defendants, Plaintiff and Class
members are issued itemized wage statements from Defendants. These wage statements provided
by Defendants do not include all of the requisite information required under the New York Wage
Theft laws, including the employer’s phone number.

26. Upon information and belief, Defendants likewise do not provide Plaintiff and
Class members with a written notice, in English and in Spanish, containing all of the required
categories of information as required by N.Y. Lab. Law § 195(1).

27. It is typically customary in the hospitality industry that establishments impose
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gratuity charges in the range of 18% to 22% of the food and beverage bills. Thus, when customers
pay these mandatory service fees, it is reasonable for the customers to believe those service fee
surcharges are gratuities to be paid in their entirety to the service staff. Indeed, because of the
way these service fees are depicted to customers, and the custom in the food and beverage
industry that gratuities ranging from 18% to 22% are paid for food and beverage service,
customers pay these mandatory surcharges reasonably believing they are to be remitted in total
to the service staff as gratuities.

28. During the relevant time period, Defendants pay Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-
Class members a portion of the surcharges billed to customers as supplementary payments in
addition to their regular wages. However, Defendants do not remit the total proceeds of these
surcharges to the non-managerial employees who serve the food and beverages during banguets.
Instead, Defendants have a policy and practice of retaining a portion of the service fee and/or
using a portion of the surcharges to pay non-service workers. As a result, Plaintiff and Service
Fee Sub-Class members do not receive the total proceeds of the service fees as gratuities, to
which they are entitled under New York law.

29.  Asaresult of these policies, Defendants deny Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class
members surcharge fees to which they are lawfully owed as gratuity payments.

30.  Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that this same, or substantially
similar, mandatory surcharge system is used across each of the Defendants’ facilities throughout
New York.

31.  Defendants’ failure to record all mandatory surcharge payments also results in a
failure to provide Class members, including Plaintiff, accurate itemized wage statements as

required by New York law. The wage statements Defendant provides are not accurate because
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they do not reflect the actual wages earned as mandatory surcharges that should be remitted in
full as gratuity payments.

32. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ conduct further results in a failure to
provide Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members with a written notice, in English and
Spanish, containing accurate representations of, among other things, their rates of pay and basis
thereof, including the terms of the mandatory surcharges to be paid to the service workers and
the allowances and deductions to be deducted from their wages.

33.  Class members report to a facility owned, operated, or managed by Defendants to
perform their jobs.

34. Class members perform their jobs under Defendants’ supervision and using
materials and technology approved and supplied by Defendants.

35.  Class members are required to follow and abide by common work, time, and pay
policies and procedures in the performance of their jobs.

36.  Service Fee Sub-Class members were and are employed by Defendants and perform
work materially similar to Plaintiff.

37.  Atthe end of each pay period, Class members receive wages from Defendants that
are determined by common systems and methods that Defendants select and control.

38. Defendants have employed hundreds of people similarly situated to Plaintiff during
the six-year period prior to the filing of this Complaint.

39.  Defendants’ method of paying Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members is
willful and is not based on a good faith and reasonable belief that their conduct complies with
New York law.

40. Defendants’ conduct was willful, carried out in bad faith, and caused significant
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damages to non-exempt hourly employees in an amount to be determined at trial.

RULE 23 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

41.  Plaintiff brings causes of action as a class action on behalf of herself and all others
similarly situated pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3). The Classes that
Plaintiff seeks to represent are defined as follows:

Class
All current and former non-exempt workers employed by
Defendants Embassy Suites Employer LLC and/or Embassy
Suites Management LLC and/or Congress Hotel, LLC and/or
Veeder Hospitality Management, LLC in New York any time
starting six years prior to the filing of this Complaint until
resolution of this action.

Service Fee Sub-Class

All current and former hourly, non-exempt employees,
including but not limited to servers, food servers, beverage
servers, waitstaff, room service attendants, or other employees
with similar job duties employed by Defendants in New York
any time starting six years prior to the filing of this Complaint
until resolution of this action.

42.  This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class action
because there is a well-defined community of interest in the litigation and the proposed class is
easily ascertainable.

43. Numerosity: The potential members of the class are so numerous that joinder of all
the members of the Class is impracticable. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the number of
New York Class members exceeds 100. This volume makes bringing the claims of each
individual member of the class before this Court impracticable. Likewise, joining each individual

member of the New York Class as a plaintiff in this action is impracticable. Furthermore, the

identities of the New York Class will be determined from Defendants’ records, as will the
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compensation paid to each of them. As such, a class action is a reasonable and practical means
of resolving these claims. To require individual actions would prejudice the New York Class and
Defendants.

44.  Commonality: There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and the
New York Class that predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the
Class. These common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to:

a. Whether Defendants fail to provide Class members with timely, accurate
itemized wage statements in violation of the N.Y. Lab. Law § 193(3);

b. Whether Defendants fail to provide Class members with written notice, in
English and Spanish, in compliance with N.Y. Lab. Law § 195(1);

c. Whether Defendants failed to include supplementary payments such as service
fees billed to customers in the regular rates of pay for Plaintiff and Service Fee
Sub-Class members;

d. Whether Defendants have a policy and/or practice of charging a mandatory
surcharge to customers that appears to be intended as a gratuity to service
workers, and failing to remit the entirety of that surcharge fee to Service Fee
Sub-Class members;

e. Whether Defendants’ conduct in failing to remit all of the service fee surcharges
to Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members constitutes unjust enrichment;
and

f.  The proper formula for calculating restitution, damages and penalties owed to
Plaintiff and the Class as alleged herein.

45.  Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the New York Class.

-10-
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Defendants’ common course of conduct in violation of law as alleged herein caused Plaintiff and
Class members to sustain the same or similar injuries and damages. Plaintiff’s claims are thereby
representative of and co-extensive with the claims of the Class.

46. Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff seeks relief for state law violations

perpetrated by Defendants. In that sense, Plaintiff does not have any conflicts of interest with
other Class members and will prosecute the case vigorously on behalf of the Class. Counsel
representing Plaintiff is competent and experienced in litigating complex cases and large class
actions, including wage and hour cases. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect
the interests of the Class members.

47.  Superiority of Class Action: A class action is superior to other available means for

the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. Individual joinder of all proposed Class
members is not practicable, and questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over
any questions affecting only individual members of the Class. Each proposed Class member has
been damaged and is entitled to recovery by reason of Defendants’ illegal policies and/or
practices. Class action treatment will allow those similarly situated persons to litigate their claims
in the manner that is most efficient and economical for the parties and the judicial system.

48. In the alternative, the Class may be certified because the prosecution of separate
actions by the individual members of the Class would create a risk of inconsistent or varying
adjudication with respect to individual members of the Class which would establish incompatible
standards of conduct for Defendants.

49, If each individual Class member were required to file an individual lawsuit,
Defendants would necessarily gain an unconscionable advantage because Defendants would be

able to exploit and overwhelm the limited resources of each member of the Class with

-11-
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Defendants’ vastly superior financial legal resources.

50. Requiring each individual Class member to pursue an individual remedy would also
discourage the assertion of lawful claims by the Class members who would be disinclined to
pursue these claims against Defendants because of an appreciable and justifiable fear of
retaliation and permanent damage to their lives, careers and well-being

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Provide Accurate Itemized Wage Statements Pursuant to N.Y. Lab. Law § 195
(On Behalf of the Class)

51.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set
forth herein.
52. Defendants do not provide Plaintiff and Class members with accurate itemized
wage statements as required by N.Y. Lab. Law § 195(3).
53.  With each payment of wages, Defendants fail to provide Plaintiff and Class
members with an accurate statement listing each of the following categories of information:
a. The dates of work covered by that payment of wages;
b. Name of employee;
c. Name of employer;
d. Address and phone number of employer;
e. Rate or rates of pay and basis thereof, whether the employee is paid by the hour,
shift, day, week, salary, piece, commission, or other;
f.  Gross wages;
g. Deductions;
h. Allowances, if any, claimed as part of the minimum wage;

i. Net wages;

-12-



Case 1:20-cv-00861-TIJM-TWD Document1 Filed 07/31/20 Page 13 of 19

j.  The regular hourly rate or rates of pay;

k. The overtime rate or rates of pay;

I.  The number of regular hours worked; and
m. The number of overtime hours worked.

54.  The wage statements furnished by Defendants to all Class members, regardless of
job title, job duties, or location worked throughout the state of New York, lack the employer’s
phone number as required by N.Y. Lab. Law § 195(3). This constitutes a per se violation of the
law.

55.  Asaresult, pursuantto N.Y. Lab. Law 8 198(1-d), Defendants are liable to Plaintiff
and each Class member in the amount of $100 per wage statement violation per Class member,
up to a maximum of $2,500 per Class member, together with attorneys’ fees and costs.

56.  Wherefore, Plaintiff and the putative Class request relief as hereinafter provided.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of the Notice and Recordkeeping Requirement Pursuant to N.Y. Lab. Law § 195
(On Behalf of the Class)

57.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set
forth herein.

58. Defendants fail to provide Plaintiff and Class members with a written notice, in
English and in Spanish, containing the following categories of information as required by N.Y.
Lab. Law § 195(1):

a. The rates of pay and basis thereof, whether paid by the hour, shift, day, week,
salary, piece, commission, or other;
b. Allowances, if any, claimed as part of the minimum wage, including tip, meal,

or lodging allowances;

-13-
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c. The regular pay day designated by the employer;

d. The name of the employer;

e. Any “doing business as” names used by the employer;

f. The physical address of the employer’s main office or principal place of

business, and a mailing address if different; and

g. The telephone number of the employer.

59.  Asaresult, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff and each Class member in the amount
of $2,500, together with attorneys’ fees and costs.
60.  Wherefore, Plaintiff and the Class request relief as hereinafter provided.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of N.Y. Lab. Law § 196-d

Improper Retainer of Service Fees from Service Workers
(On Behalf of the Service Fee Sub-Class)

61.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set
forth herein.

62. New York Labor Law § 196-d prohibits employers from retaining: (1) “any part of
a gratuity”; or (2) “any charge purported to be a gratuity for an employee.”

63. Section 196-d does not prohibit “practices in connection with banquets and other
special functions where a fixed percentage of the patron’s bill is added for gratuities which are
distributed to employees” or “the sharing of tips by a waiter with a busboy or similar employee.”

64.  Whether mandatory or voluntary, 8 196-d covers any charge that a reasonable
customer would have believed would serve as a gratuity. Indeed, if 8 196-d were interpreted to
cover only voluntary payments, employers would have license to mislead patrons as to the cost
of their meals and how much of their payments will be directed to service employees, in clear

contravention of the statute’s text and purpose. Quite the opposite, 8 196-d’s clear directive is

-14-
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that employers must distribute to service workers any “charge purported to be a gratuity for an
employee.”

65. Defendants routinely add a mandatory service fee to the total cost for banquet
services. Unwary customers pay these service fees reasonably believing that the entirety of the
service fee will be remitted to the service workers as gratuity payment, as is the widely accepted
custom throughout the hospitality industry. Defendants, however, do not remit the entire service
fee proceeds to Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members.

66. In relevant part, § 196-d provides:

No employer . .. or any other person shall demand or accept, directly
or indirectly, any part of the gratuities, received by an employee, or
retain any part of a gratuity or of any charge purported to be a
gratuity for an employee. . . . Nothing in this subdivision shall be
construed as affecting . . . practices in connection with banquets and
other specific functions where a fixed percentage of the patron’s bill
is added for gratuities which are distributed to employees, nor to the
sharing of tips by a waiter with a busboy or similar employee.

67. The statute forbids employers from retaining “any part” of either (1) “a gratuity”;
or (2) “any charge purported to be a gratuity.” In other words, the statute treats identically a
“gratuity” and a “charge” that purports to be a gratuity, attaching no significance to whether a
payment is made voluntarily as a tip or involuntarily as a mandatory surcharge. All that is
required is that a charge purports, or “seems” to be a gratuity.

68.  Customers reasonably believe that Defendants’ mandatory fees are gratuity
payments to service workers. The term service fee, as used in Defendants’ billing practices,
indicates the surcharge is intended to be a gratuity payment.

69. N.Y. Lab. Law 8 196-d requires the distribution of these surcharges, in their

entirety, to service workers. Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members are and have been

deprived of receiving the service fee surcharges in full that Defendants should have paid them.

-15-
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70.  Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members are entitled to the portions of the
service fees that were not originally remitted to the service workers.

71.  Upon information and belief, Defendants’ ongoing violation of § 196-d are willful.
Accordingly, Defendants are also liable to Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members for
penalties available under N.Y. Lab. Law § 198.

72.  Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members are also entitled to reasonable
attorneys’ fees pursuant to § 198.

73.  Wherefore, Plaintiff and the Service Fee Sub-Class request relief as hereinafter
provided.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Unjust Enrichment
(On Behalf of the Service Fee Sub-Class)

74.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set
forth herein.

75.  Defendants’ conduct as set forth above constitutes unjust enrichment under New
York common law.

76. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-Class members bestowed a
benefit in the form of service which is customarily “tipped” in addition to hourly wages that are
regularly paid to service workers.

77.  Because of Defendants’ non-payment and underpayment to service workers of all
sums denominated as service fees, Defendants knowingly receive and retain funds that patrons
intend to be paid in full to the waitstaff and other non-managerial service workers.

78. In equity and good conscience, said funds belong to Plaintiff and Service Fee Sub-

Class members, not Defendants or other non-service workers employed by Defendants.

-16-
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79.

Defendants will obtain such benefit without adequately compensating Plaintiff and

Cl Service Fee Sub-Class ass members if Defendants are permitted to retain the unpaid service

fee surcharges collected from their customers without remitting the entirety of the service fee

payments to their intended beneficiaries — the non-managerial service workers.

80.

Defendants should therefore be required to disgorge all ill-gotten gains as a result

of failing to remit the entirety of gratuity proceeds charged to Defendants’ customers to service

employees.

81.

Wherefore, Plaintiff and the C Service Fee Sub-Class lass request relief as

hereinafter provided.

82.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby requests a trial by jury.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of Class members, requests the following relief:

1.

For an order certifying that the Causes of Action in this Complaint may be
maintained as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23;
Damages and restitution according to proof at trial for all unpaid gratuities, wages
and other injuries, as provided by the New York Labor Law, and all other applicable
laws, rules, and regulations of New York;

For a declaratory judgment that Defendants violated the New York Labor Law, and
public policy as alleged herein;

For preliminary, permanent, and mandatory injunctive relief prohibiting
Defendants, their officers, agents, and all those acting in concert with them from

committing, now and in the future, those violations of law herein alleged;

-17-
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5.

10.

11.

12.

For an order requiring Defendants to disgorge all profits and other ill-gotten gains
resulting from their failure to remit the entirety of mandatory surcharges billed to
customers to non-managerial service employees;

For an equitable accounting to identify, locate, and restore to all current and former
employees the gratuities and wages they are due, with interest thereon;

For an order awarding Plaintiff and the Class members compensatory damages,
including gratuities owed, lost wages, earnings, liquidated damages, and other
employee benefits, restitution, recovery of all money/property, actual damages, and
all other sums of money owed to Plaintiff and Class members, together with interest
on these amounts according to proof;

For an order awarding Plaintiff and Class members civil penalties pursuant to the
New York Labor Law, and the laws of the State of New York, with interest thereon;
For an order awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees as provided by the New York
Labor Law, the laws of the State of New York, and/or other applicable law;

For all costs of suit;

For interest on any penalties awarded, as provided by applicable law; and

For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

-18-
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Date: July 31, 2020
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I. (a) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS

NOEL MCARDLE-BRACELIN, Individually and On Behalf of All Others EMBASSY SUITES EMPLOYER LLC; EMBASSY SUITES
Similarly Situated MANAGEMENT LLC; CONGRESS HOTEL, LLC; et al.

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff ~ Saratoga County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

NOTE:

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)
Schneider Wallace Cottrell Konecky LLP
6000 Fairview Road, Suite 1200, Charlotte, North Carolina 28210

Tel: (510) 740-2946

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff’
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)
3 1 U.S. Government A 3 Federal Question PTF  DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State a1l O 1 Incorporated or Principal Place a4 04
of Business In This State
3 2 U.S. Government 3 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State 0 2 3 2 Incorporated and Principal Place as 035
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a @ 3 3 3 Foreign Nation a6 06
Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Piace an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
| CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES
O 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY |3 625 Drug Related Seizure 3 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 3 375 False Claims Act
3 120 Marine 3 310 Airplane 3 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 |3 423 Withdrawal 3 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
3 130 Miller Act 3 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
O 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability 3 367 Health Care/ 3 400 State Reapportionment
3 150 Recovery of Overpayment |3 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 3 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 3 820 Copyrights 3 430 Banks and Banking
O 151 Medicare Act [ 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 3 830 Patent 3 450 Commerce
O 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability [ 368 Asbestos Personal 3 835 Patent - Abbreviated 3 460 Deportation
Student Loans 3 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application | 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) 3 345 Marine Product Liability 3 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations
O 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY 3 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits 3 350 Motor Vehicle 3 370 Other Fraud 3 710 Fair Labor Standards 3 861 HIA (1395ff) (15 USC 1681 or 1692)
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3 220 Foreclosure O 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act or Defendant) 3 895 Freedom of Information
O 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment O 442 Employment O 510 Motions to Vacate 3 871 IRS—Third Party Act
3 240 Torts to Land 3 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 3 896 Arbitration
3 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations 3 530 General 3 899 Administrative Procedure
3 290 All Other Real Property O 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION Act/Review or Appeal of
Employment Other: 3 462 Naturalization Application Agency Decision
O 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 540 Mandamus & Other |3 465 Other Immigration 3 950 Constitutionality of
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Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)

Brief description of cause: .
Violations of New York Labor Law and related wage and hour claims
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Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

L(a)

(b)

(o)

11.

I11.

Iv.

VL

VIIL.

VIIIL.

Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and
then the official, giving both name and title.

County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X"
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.

United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.

Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue.

Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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